### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/28/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/28/2025 3:39 PM

Case #: 1041080

NO.

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HECTOR MARTINEZ and JOLAYNE HOUTZ, husband and wife, individually and as Co-Personal Representatives of the ESTATE OF SAMUEL H. MARTINEZ,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY, a subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

### I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals contradicted this Court's *Barlow v*. *State* decision when it concluded that Washington State University (University) owed a duty to protect a student from the criminal conduct of another student at an off-campus party. In *Barlow*, this Court held that a university's relationship with its students gives rise to duty only where they are on campus or engaged in off-campus, school-sponsored activities that are part of the university's curriculum and closely related to its delivery of educational services. *Barlow v. State*, 2 Wn.3d 583, 596, 540 P.3d 783 (2024).

Here, Samuel Martinez (Martinez) tragically lost his life after Wesley Oswald, his fraternity big brother, supplied him alcohol at a private, off-campus fraternity party. It is undisputed Oswald's actions were criminal. Rather than follow *Barlow*'s holding, the Court of Appeals concluded the University owed Martinez a duty because it had a contractual relationship with his fraternity. But the contractual relationship stipulated that the

University did not control or supervise the fraternity and merely had typical contractual language that allowed the University to discipline violations after-the-fact and ultimately terminate the relationship for noncompliance.

The Court of Appeals' determination to depart from *Barlow* is both novel and flawed. No Washington precedent has ever held that a contractual relationship with typical discipline and termination language was sufficient to give rise to a special relationship to control a third party in order to protect others from harm. In addition, no Washington precedent has previously held that a special relationship with an entity creates a duty to protect other individuals from the criminal activity of actors associated with the entity.

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), reverse the Court of Appeals, and correctly apply *Barlow* to hold that the University does not owe a duty to protect Martinez from the off-campus criminal activity of his fratemity brothers.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

The University seeks review of Division I's published opinion in *Martinez v. Washington State University*, 33 Wn. App. 2d 431, 562 P.3d 802 (2025). The opinion is attached: Appendix A. As is the order denying the University's motion for reconsideration: Appendix B.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded that the University owed a duty to protect Martinez from the criminal conduct of another student at a fraternity party that took place inside a private, off-campus residence?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded that the University had a *Restatement* § 315(a) special relationship with Martinez's fratemity based on a contractual relationship that allowed the University to impose only after-the-fact sanctions for violations?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err when it concluded that the University had a *Restatement* § 315(a) special relationship with

Martinez's fratemity as opposed to a specific person, such that the University had a duty to protect others from criminal activity of the fratemity's individual members?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. The University is a Large Institution That Facilitates a Learning Environment But Does Not Control Its Students

The University is a large public research institution. The pursuit of higher education at the University is voluntarily undertaken by its adult students. Unlike elementary, middle, and high school, attendance at the University is not required. CP 1031.

Furthermore, the University does not control its students, nor does it supervise their day-to-day activities. *Id.* Indeed, most of the over 20,000 University students live off-campus in privately leased apartments or leave the campus at various times throughout the day and school year without ever informing the University, much less seeking its permission. *Id.* The University's adult students are responsible for taking care of

themselves in every respect. The University does not check to ensure they complete assigned homework, eat balanced meals, or make good choices on or off campus. CP 1031.

# B. While the University Recognized Gamma Chi as a Fraternity, It Did Not and Could Not Control Gamma Chi, Nor Was University Recognition Required for Students to Join

University-recognized clubs and organizations are imagined, created, and operated by the adult students themselves. CP 126. There are more than 500 clubs and organizations recognized by the University. They range from student government to the food science club, from pre-health to the Audio Engineering Club, and Collegiate Young Farmers and Ranchers. CP 126, 134-55

In 2019, Gamma Chi, a local chapter of the national fraternity Alpha Tau Omega (ATO), was one group recognized by the University. Importantly, University recognition is not a requirement for an off-campus fraternity to exist and operate. CP 1030. Fraternities and sororities may exist in Pullman without formal recognition. Unrecognized fraternities are not

bound by University's community standards and cannot be disciplined even after the fact by the University. CP 1031.

As a condition of recognition, Gamma Chi was required to execute a formal Relationship Agreement (RA). CP 127, 157-76. The RA established both the scope and limitations of University recognition. Specifically, the RA provided that:

- Gamma Chi and the University were "separate and distinct entities that operate independently of each other";
- Gamma Chi was not an agent, servant, or employee of the University;
- Gamma Chi understood and agreed it, and not the University, was responsible for supervising, directing, and controlling the off-campus actions of Gamma Chi and its members;
- Consistent with state law, Gamma Chi agreed not to permit alcohol at its facility, nor provide alcohol to

- people under the age of 21 at any event it sponsored, regardless of location; and
- Gamma Chi promised to comply with state law that prohibited hazing, and educate its members about the definition and prohibition against hazing.

CP 158, 160-61, 167-69, 1029. Of note, the RA specifically recognized the University "does not supervise, direct or control the Chapter's activities." CP 158.

# C. The UAH Agreement Did Not Permit the University to Control Fraternity Member Actions at Any Member's Separate House

In addition to the RA, the University also had a UAH agreement with Gamma Chi that allowed first-year students pledging Gamma Chi to reside at Gamma Chi's off-campus chapter house. CP 1031. Students who chose that option paid rent and other related housing costs directly to Gamma Chi. The University received no financial benefit from that arrangement. CP 1030. The UAH itself is not contained within the appellate record, however, the minimum eligibility requirements for a

UAH are contained within the RA. To qualify for a UAH Agreement, Gamma Chi agreed to comply with the following requirements:

- It had to be recognized by the University;
- It had to be considered "residential," meaning that: (a) it met the minimum number of members required for official recognition; (b) it rented, leased, owned or otherwise occupied a physical facility/house; and (c) it was officially identified by the University as a residential chapter;
- The chapter house had to be equipped with an operational sprinkler and fire suppression system;
- The ATO housing corporation that owned and operated the chapter house had to employ a live-in advisor or house director;
- It was required to have property and liability coverage;

- The facility had to comply with all Whitman County requirements and pass a house and safety inspection;
   and
- The organization had to certify it was alcohol-free and complete the University's Alcohol-Free agreement.
   CP 176.

The UAH agreement only applied to Gamma Chi's chapter house, and expressly excluded any "live-out" residences rented by Gamma Chi's members. CP 176 (The term "residential fraternity/sorority" used in the UAH agreement "does not include any 'live-out' spaces where members of the fraternity/sorority happen to live."). There is nothing in the record indicating that any member's live-out was included within the terms of Gamma Chi's UAH with the University.

Finally, nothing in the record indicates the UAH permitted the University to enter the Gamma Chi chapter house to monitor or control Gamma Chi's actions inside. *See* CP 176.

## D. Martinez Pledged Gamma Chi Fraternity Prior to Starting Classes at the University

Martinez planned to attend the University in the fall of 2019. Members of Gamma Chi, who had graduated from Martinez's high school recruited him to pledge Gamma Chi the summer between high school and college. CP 1971-73. Martinez did not express any interest in joining a fraternity until Gamma Chi recruiters approached him in June 2019, well before he moved to Pullman or started University classes. CP 1971-73. Martinez's excitement about joining Gamma Chi grew with each meeting he had with the recruiters. *Id.* In July 2019, Martinez chose to pledge Gamma Chi. CP 368. Other than the information he gained from Gamma Chi's recruiters, Martinez never conducted any research about Gamma Chi or ATO. CP 369-70. There is no evidence the University had any involvement with the private recruiting practices that took place between Martinez and Gamma Chi, and there is no evidence that University

recognition of Gamma Chi played a role in Maritnez's decision to pledge.

Although the UAH allowed Gamma Chi to house adult first-year students in its off-campus chapter house, Martinez lived in an on-campus residence hall like most other first-year students at the University. CP 1030, 176.

## E. Oswald Provided Martinez Alcohol at a Live-Out Residence Leased by Fraternity Members

On November 11, 2019, Martinez and other pledges were at the library as part of the Gamma Chi's mandatory "study tables." CP 1659. At approximately 9 p.m., Gamma Chi members directed them to leave campus and clean a "live-out" residence leased privately by some Gamma Chi members. CP 1659. That live-out house was not owned or rented by Gamma Chi. Rather, it was a privately-owned, off-campus house that was rented to approximately 10 student members of Gamma Chi and 10 student members of a different fraternity. CP 1658.

Cleaning the live-out house was just a ruse to assemble the pledges at the live-out house for Gamma Chi's "Big/Little"

event. CP 335. There is no evidence in the record that the University knew of this event until after Martinez's death, much less that the University sponsored it. As the Big/Little event began, a member of Gamma Chi (the "Big") was paired with one or more pledges (the "Littles"). The Big was the designated mentor for his Littles and was supposed to help integrate them into the fraternity. CP 338. Oswald was Martinez's designated Big. CP 442.

Oswald consummated this new member initiation by providing Martinez and another of his Littles with a half-gallon bottle of spiced rum, which they began drinking. CP 444, 446-47, 1573. They continued to consume the rum directly from the bottle at the live-out house for approximately 60-90 minutes. The event then dissipated, and members migrated back to the chapter house where they continued to drink and play video games, "[a]nd wherever the night goes from there.... [It was] not a

coordinated party or coordinated sequence of events." CP 335-37, 343, 450-51.

Recognizing Martinez's intoxication, Oswald and another member took Martinez to Gamma Chi's "chapter room" at Gamma Chi's off-campus chapter house to let him sleep it off. CP 459, 462-66. Members laid Martinez, who was passed-out, on a couch propped on his side, facing away from the back of the couch. Oswald checked on Martinez two or three times before he went to bed around 3 a.m. Each time he heard Martinez breathing. Oswald assigned no one else to watch over Martinez. CP 470-74. Martinez died at approximately 4:30 a.m. from "acute intoxication," without ethanol regaining ever consciousness. CP 114-16, 401.

It is undisputed that Oswald's action in supplying Martinez alcohol violated Gamma Chi and ATO's rules. CP 120–21, 315. It was also criminal<sup>1</sup>, and Oswald was later convicted of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See RCW 66.44.270(1); RCW 28B.10.901(1), (2) (2019).

furnishing alcohol to a minor. CP 475–76. However, as learned through this litigation, it was common for fraternity members to break these rules and actively conceal that they were doing so. *See* CP 305–306, 314–15, 541–43.

# F. Following Martinez's Death, the University Terminated Recognition of Gamma Chi

Following Martinez's death, the University terminated its formal recognition of Gamma Chi. CP 415–17, 582–91. However, suspending its recognition did not prohibit potential new members from pledging that fraternity. Ultimately, ATO revoked Gamma Chi's charter, which ended the fraternity. CP at 309, 797–98.

# G. The Trial Court Granted the University Summary Judgment

Plaintiffs Hector Martinez and Jolayne Houtz filed suit against the University and others claiming the wrongful death of their son, Martinez. CP 1. Plaintiffs settled and dismissed their claims against ATO and all other defendants save the University. The University filed a motion for summary judgment asserting

(1) the University owed no legal duty to Martinez, and (2) Plaintiffs could not establish the required proximate cause element of their claim. CP 58-59. Plaintiffs opposed the University's arguments on duty and causation. CP 831-45.

After a hearing, the trial court granted the University summary judgment. CP 2115-20. The trial court, citing *Turner v*. *State*, 198 Wn.2d 273, 493 P.3d 117 (2021), specifically determined that "[t]here was no 'special relationship' between the plaintiff and the defendant that would create a duty owed to the plaintiff by the defendant." CP 2116, 2118-19.

# H. After This Court Issued Its Decision in *Barlow*, the Court of Appeals Reversed Summary Judgment for the University

Plaintiffs appealed the grant of summary judgment to Division I. CP 2121-22. The Court of Appeals stayed the case pending this Court's decision in *Barlow*. Following *Barlow*, in a published opinion, the Court of Appeals agreed that there was no special relationship between the University and Martinez under *Restatement* § 315(b). *Martinez v. Washington State Univ.*,

33 Wn. App. 2d at 459–61, 465–66. However, it concluded that there was a special relationship between the University and Gamma Chi under *Restatement* § 315(a) giving rise to a duty to protect Martinez. *Id.* at 434-35, 465. Despite recognizing that Oswald criminally provided Martinez the alcohol that night, the Court of Appeals only discussed Gamma Chi and not Oswald in its analysis. *Id.* at 447.

The Court of Appeals began by recognizing the § 315(a) standard as requiring a "special relationship" "between the actor and the third person" for creation of a duty to protect. *Id.* at 465. The court also recognized *Barlow*'s holding "that a university does not have a duty to control the actions of its *individual students*." *Id.* at 466 (emphasis in original). It then reconciled this apparent contradiction by stating "a fraternity is not a student." *Id.* The court then went on to conclude that the nature of the University's relationship with Gamma Chi "was such that [the University] had sufficient insight into the dangerousness of Gamma Chi's conduct, could identify its potential victims, and

could exercise sufficient control over Gamma Chi to manifest a duty under *Restatement (Second)* § 315(a)." *Id*.

In reaching its conclusion, the court first analyzed whether the relationship between the University and Gamma Chi was "definite, established, and continuing." Id. (quoting Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 254, 386 P.3d 254 (2016). In so doing, the court recognized that the nature of the relationship was contractual. *Id.* at 466–67. Specifically, the court referenced the University and the fratemity as parties to the RA and UAH. *Id.* Because of the University's past recognition of Gamma Chi and its interactions with the fraternity, "along with the terms of the RA and UAH, [the court held] that a defined, established, and continuing relationship existed between [the University] and Gamma Chi." *Id.* at 469. The court cited no other opinion where a contractual relationship alone implicated § 315(a).

The court next examined whether the University had sufficient control over Gamma Chi and concluded that, because it determined that the University could "monitor" and discipline

lack of compliance with the agreements, the University had sufficient control. *Id.* at 469–72. The court specifically recognized that the University's ability to discipline Gamma Chi arose from the contractual relationship. *Id.* at 471 & n.55. In short, the court concluded that the University's contractual ability to discipline or terminate recognition of the fraternity (after the fact) for failure to comply with the terms of the agreements gave the University sufficient control over the fraternity. *Id.* at 470–73 ("Indeed, after Sam's death, [the University] exercised the ultimate control over Gamma Chi and withdrew its recognition").

The court finally held that a contractual relationship defined to include after-the-fact discipline and termination provisions was itself sufficient to give rise to a special relationship, finding that "[the University] and Gamma Chi formed a special relationship through their contractual agreements that satisfies the requirements of *Restatement (Second)* § 315(a)." *Id.* at 473. Thus, according to the court, the

University had "a duty to use reasonable care to control Gamma Chi and to protect foreseeable victims from the harm caused by hazing." *Id*.

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals' opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4). The decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Barlow*, which specifically found a University owed no duty to protect students from criminal behavior of other students that takes place inside a private, off-campus residence. *See Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 597. Additionally, the court's decision here raises an issue of substantial public interest because it alters and dramatically expands § 315(a) of the *Restatement* in the context of the relationships universities and colleges have with student organizations.

First, the opinion all but eliminates the critical need for Plaintiffs to show the University had the practical ability to control Gamma Chi and proactively prevent the criminal acts that its members deliberately sought to conceal in a private, off-

campus, live-out house. Second, the court's reasoning effectively sidesteps and minimizes the common law agency doctrine by apparently assuming, without analysis, that an ability to control an entity also gives *per se* control over the entity's members. These errors result in a virtually boundless new duty owed by universities and colleges anywhere and anytime a member of a student organization harms another.

Further, many contracts have common terms for after-the-fact oversight and termination of the contractual relationship for failure to comply with requirements. Such relationships will now give rise to a duty owed to third parties under § 315(a) even where the contractor is otherwise independent, and no agency relationship would otherwise exist. Review by this Court is warranted.

## A. The Court of Appeal's Opinion Conflicts with This Court's Barlow Opinion

Barlow establishes that universities have no legal duty to protect students engaged in off-campus social activities that are not "part of the school's curriculum or closely related to its

delivery of educational services." 2 Wn.3d at 596. Specifically, the Court recognized the lack of control universities have over the actions of adults that take place off campus: "Because no ability to control off-campus, non-school-sponsored interactions exists, the duty does not extend to the choices or activities under a student's control." *Id.* at 597. Thus, the Court concluded: "A university's duty is limited to where a student is on campus for school related purposes or participating in a school activity." *Id.* 

Disregarding *Barlow*, the Court of Appeals here erroneously created a new special relationship that makes the University liable for the off-campus, criminal conduct of students who are not engaged in any educational function or activity. The Court of Appeals incorrectly reasoned that *Barlow* did not control because here the special relationship was purportedly between the University and the fratemity, not the student member of that fratemity. 33 Wn. App. 3d at 466. And yet, it is the off-campus, criminal conduct of Oswald, a student

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