FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/28/2025 3:30 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1041080

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HECTOR MARTINEZ and JOLAYNE HOUTZ, husband and wife, individually and as Co-Personal Representatives of the ESTATE OF SAMUEL H. MARTINEZ,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY, a subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent/Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

REBECCA J. ROE, WSBA #7560 SIMS G. WEYMULLER, WSBA #33026 SERGIO A. GARCIDUEÑAS-SEASE, WSBA #46958 SCHROETER, GOLDMARK & BENDER

> 401 Union Street, Suite 3400 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 622-8000

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Division I Correctly Held WSU Had a "Unique" and Special Relationship with Gamma Chi under § 315(a)

1. Section 315(a) Is Not Limited to an Actor's Relationship with a "Natural" Third Person

In its scramble to find an error in Division I's holding, WSU argues, for the first time, that "Section 315(a) is specifically limited to an actor's relationship with a 'person' not an entity," and that "person" means only "a human being." (WSU Pet. at 22.) But the drafters of the Restatement did not limit 315(a)'s reach to matters involving the conduct of "human beings," a term they used in other Restatement sections, but not Section 315. *See, e.g., Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 283, cmt. b, § 290.

Moreover, the dictionary defines "person" to mean "human being, a body of persons, or a corporation, partnership, or other legal entity that is recognized by law as the subject of rights and duties." WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1686 (56th ed. 2020). And, "[a]lthough 'person' often refers to an individual human being, 'its meaning varies within the RCW' in distinct legal contexts and for particular purposes." *State v. Evans*, 177 Wn.2d 186, 194, 298 P. 3d 724 (2012) (citation omitted). One context is the Criminal Code, where "person" includes "where relevant, a corporation, joint stock association, or unincorporated association," RCW 9A.04.110(17), like Gamma Chi.

WSU's constrained reading of "third person" is incompatible with the distinct legal and factual context of this case. Section 315(a) "is an exception to the general common law rule of nonliability for the criminal or tortious acts of third

parties." *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 262. Prior cases interpreting § 315(a) have therefore unsurprisingly involved criminal or tortious acts by natural persons since, generally, most crimes and torts resulting in physical injury are committed by individuals.

But, as Washington recognizes, hazing is a rare crime involving the risk of personal injury and death that, by its very nature, is organizational-based and driven. At the time of Sam's hazing and death, Washington's anti-hazing law prohibited both students and "[a]ny organization, association, and student living group," from participating, permitting, or conspiring to engage in hazing, which it defined, in pertinent part, as "any method of initiation into a student organization or living group, or any pastime or amusement engaged in with respect to such an organization or living group" that causes harm. RCW 28B.10.901 (emphasis added). Further. WSU's Safety Regulations prohibited students and "recognized or registered student organization[s]," like Gamma Chi, from "conspir[ing] to engage" or "participat[ing] in the hazing of another," including

"any activity expected of someone joining a group (or maintaining full status in a group)" that causes harm. WAC 504-26-206 (emphasis added).

Here, while the hazing and related misconduct that resulted in Sam's death was undisputedly "criminal," (WSU Pet. at 13), it was also undisputedly perpetrated by Gamma Chi, not a lone individual, against pledges seeking membership in Gamma Chi during a fraternity-wide event. And hazing within WSU-recognized fraternities was organizational conduct that WSU undisputedly had the authority to regulate and control, and frequently undertook to do so.

From at least 2013, when a last-minute reprieve from WSU's President saved the fraternity from a statutorilymandated loss of recognition, through the fall of 2019, WSU routinely (albeit negligently) investigated Gamma Chi—as an organization—for hazing- and alcohol-related violations of WSU's Community Standards and the Relationship Agreement ("RA") and University Approved Housing Standards Agreement ("UAH") WSU entered into with Gamma Chi. See, e.g., Martinez, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 441-446.

After Sam's death, WSU again investigated Gamma Chi, which conceded it was complicit in the hazing that led to Sam's death. CP 592-594. Thus, while WSU's lawyers would like to treat this case as one that arises out of the "criminal conduct of Oswald, a student member of Gamma Chi," alone, (WSU Pet. at 21-22), WSU itself has always recognized that Sam's hazing and death were the result of fraternity-wide misconduct and traditions, which WSU repeatedly failed to address. WSU's specious attempts to reframe the facts to match those of *Barlow* underscore the critical distinctions between the cases, including the nature and degree of control WSU had over the perpetrators and the settings and context of the crimes at issue.

2. WSU Had More Than Sufficient Ability to Control Gamma Chi to Give Rise to a Duty Under § 315(a)

WSU mischaracterizes the nature and degree of control sufficient to create a special relationship and attendant duty

under § 315(a). That WSU might not have had an unfettered "ability to proactively control the way the fraternity operates inside a private, off-campus residence," (WSU Pet. at 29), merely raises the relevant question. As this Court has made clear, "absolute control is unnecessary." *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 265-66. Rather, a special relationship can exist under § 315(a) where, as here, there is "*some* ability to "control" the third person's conduct." *Id.* at 264 (emphasis added). As Division I correctly found, WSU had more than sufficient ability to control Gamma Chi to give rise to a special relationship under § 315(a). *Martinez*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 470-73.

a. The RA and UAH Gave WSU the Ability and Responsibility to Control Gamma Chi's Activities

WSU continues to gloss over the various mechanisms it had to control and regulate Gamma Chi's conduct. WSU could exert control through numerous requirements, rules, and conditions, including those set forth in the RA and UAH and its authority and obligation to closely monitor, investigate, and discipline the fraternities it recognized, including Gamma Chi, for non-compliance, both on- and off-campus. CP 1194-95, 1198-1213.

It is undisputed that, in addition to the CCS, the CFSL the department charged with advocating on behalf of WSUrecognized fraternities—regularly investigated Gamma Chi, including in the spring of 2017, when CFSL's director notified Gamma Chi's national organization of a "quite concerning" report of hazing involving Gamma Chi and offered to share information and "partner with" the national organization during the investigation. CP 1105, 1444, 1088-89.

WSU is wrong that its (undisputed and uncontested) ability and authority to closely monitor, investigate, and impose consequences on Gamma Chi for violations are not evidence of control. (WSU Pet. at 25-26.) Division I correctly recognized that "WSU had the ability to regulate Gamma Chi's conduct to prevent injury." *Martinez*, 33 Wn.App. 2d at 471. Similar to the psychiatrist in *Volk*—who had the ability to undertake "a number

of preventive measures" in the outpatient setting, including monitoring compliance with medication and of the patient's mental state, *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 265, 265 n.12—WSU had the ability to regulate Gamma Chi's conduct to change behavior and prevent recurrences by: closely monitoring Gamma Chi's compliance with the RA and UAH; investigating alleged violations; and imposing consequences for confirmed violations. *Id.* at 471-72.

3. The "Disclaimer" in the RA neither Legally nor Factually Impacts WSU's Duty

WSU clings to disclaimer language in the RA. Whether a tort duty exists is a question of law fora the Court, not one a defendant can preemptively resolve in its favor through third-party agreements to which potential plaintiffs are not parties. Agreements, like the UAH and RA, do not trump common law tort duties. *See, e.g., Afoa v. Port of Seatle*, 176 Wn.2d 460, 478-79 (2013) ("Calling the relationship a license does not change reality … the safety of workers does not depend on the formalities of contract language.").

WSU's reliance on the RA's disclaimer to hide behind the entity whose harmful activities it had a duty, but failed, to control is also ironic, at best. WSU has long known that it could not rely on Gamma Chi to comply with the RA or educate its members or pledges on it. For example, in sanctioning Gamma Chi in 2013 for hazing its pledges and providing its underage members alcohol in 2012, WSU's review board stressed Gamma Chi's "reckless" "failure to inform member and pledges of the rules outlined in the [RA]." CP 1383. Nonetheless, WSU continued to recognize Gamma Chi gave Gamma Chi direct access to Sam before he even stepped on campus.

4. The "Live-Out" Was a Known and Integral Part of Gamma Chi's Activities, within WSU's Ability to Control

The power to address known risks derived from, among other things, WSU's code of conduct, which applies "to conduct that occurs off university premises." WAC 504-26-015. In fact, when asked how WSU would respond to reports of violations at a live-out, WSU's former CCS Director did not distinguish

between on- or off-campus misconduct:

Just like we would any off-campus behavior ... we would ... determine whether or not there were students or student organizations that were responsible for violating the WACs and then impose educational sanctions as appropriate.

CP 1243. WSU's current CCS Director concurred:

My office can respond to reported violations *that occur off campus* if they create safety concerns ... or if they impacted the reputation of the university negatively

CP 1314 (emphasis added). She also admitted that "most of [CCS's] investigations" concern "behavior that occurs at *private residences, off* campus or in close proximity to campus," CP 1313 (emphasis added), while WSU's CFSL Director conceded that events at live-outs fall within the CFSL's "sphere of concern." CP 1098.

Thus, WSU's argument that "there is no evidence in the record that the University knew of [the "Big/Little" event] until after Martinez's death," (WSU Pet. at 11-12), is a distraction. Whether Gamma Chi's actions on that specific night were factually foreseeable is a question for the jury. *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 275. And, as to legal foreseeability, "[i]ntentional or criminal conduct may be [legally] foreseeable unless it is 'so highly extraordinary or improbable as to be wholly beyond the range of expectability." *Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 50, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (quoting *Johnson v. State*, 77 Wn.App. 934, 942, 894 P.2d 1366 (1995)).

Here, even if the details of the Big/Little event were unknown to WSU, WSU undisputedly knew about the risks in the live-out in Fall 2019, including the specific risk that pledges would be hazed there with alcohol, and had the power and authority to address those risks.

Rather than hiding those "risks," Gamma Chi's president alerted WSU to them, conceded he was not equipped to manage them, and asked for help. And just days after that plea, in September 2019, WSU revoked the recognition of another WSUrecognized fraternity for hazing its pledges with alcohol *at the* *same live-out*, but later rescinded that sanction and imposed only further education. CP 1315-16. 1745-46, 1749-52, 1756-57.

5. Division I's Decision Does Not Conflict with this Court's Precedent and Is Not An Outlier

Division I's holding is well-grounded in this Court's § 315(a) jurisprudence, including *Barlow*, and it does not portend "expansive liability on universities and colleges," as WSU insists. (WSU Pet. at 30.) Washington has applied § 315(a) in numerous cases. See Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) (outpatient counselor); N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) (registered sex offender student and school); N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding, 175 Wn. App. 517, 307 P.3d 730 (2013) (volunteer scout leader and LDS church); C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) (Catholic church and priest); Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home, 131 Wn.2d 39, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (nursing home staff); Petersen v. State, 100 Wash.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983) (psychiatrist patient).

The factors determining whether the duty exists under § 315(a) are a continuing relationship, unique knowledge into the risk, and the ability to control or mitigate the conduct at issue. *Martinez*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 465-66 (citing *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 256). Division I found a "unique" and continuing relationship between WSU and Gamma Chi dating back to when WSU first recognized the Chapter in May 1911. *Id*. at 440.

Gamma Chi voluntarily entered the recognition program, receiving access to WSU facilities, organizational and recruiting activities, university-sponsored training and events, and use of WSU's name and trademarks. *Id.* at 467-68. As a recognized fraternity, first year students could live at Gamma Chi's fraternity house, thus providing the fraternity an invaluable recruiting tool and a stable source of income. *Id.* at 468. WSU assisted with recruiting, met regularly with Gamma Chi, and partnered with the fraternity to (purportedly) address problems. *Id.*

Division I recognized that because WSU had the "ability to regulate Gamma Chi's conduct to prevent injury from hazing," it had a "a duty to use reasonable care to control Gamma Chi and to protect foreseeable victims from the harm caused by hazing," *Id.* at 471, 473. That holding is faithful to this Court's precedent. *See, e.g., Barlow,* 2 Wn.3d at 593 ("in order for a special relation under *Restatement (Second)* § 315(a) to exist, the ability to control the third party must exist") (citing *Volk,* 187 Wn.2d at 264).

Nor is Division I's holding an outlier. In *Halmon v. Lane College*, the Tennessee Court of Appeals held that where—as here—a university is "aware of significant risks connected to" a recognized fraternity, the university has a duty to "conform to the reasonable person standard of care in order to protect against unreasonable risks of harm" involving the fraternity. No. W2019-01224-COA-R3-CV, 2020 WL 2790455. 2020 Tenn. App. LEXIS 255, at *18-23 (Tenn. Ct. App. May 29, 2020) (unpublished). In reaching that holding, the *Halmon* court cited favorably to *Morrison v. Kappa Alpha Psi Fraternity*, where the Louisiana Court of Appeals held that "universities which allow and regulate fraternal organizations have a duty toward their students to act within reasonable bounds to protect against illegal and proscribed hazing." 738 So. 2d 1105, 1115 (La. Ct. App. 1999). The *Morrison* court also held that "because of the prior knowledge and serious nature of hazing [with the fraternity at issue], social policy justifies a special relationship between the University and its students in this particular instance." *Id*.

Those decisions reaffirm the soundness of Division I's holding and the public interest in recognizing a university's duty to exercise reasonable care to protect against unreasonable risks of harm from university-recognized fraternities, particularly ones, like Gamma Chi, with known histories of dangerous misconduct. And, to the extent this Court deems it appropriate to grant review, those decisions also emphasize that considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent, with "reference to the principles reflected in *Restatement of Torts*," *Barlow*, 2 Wn.2d at 589, together with the "unique" relationship WSU formed with Gamma Chi, favor a finding that WSU also owed Sam a duty to exercise reasonable care with regard to the risks WSU knew or should have known Sam was likely to encounter while pledging Gamma Chi.

B. There Is a Substantial Public Interest In Determining whether "Logic, Common Sense, Justice, Policy, and Precedent" Dictate that WSU Owed Sam, a Vulnerable Fraternity Pledge, a Duty of Care

To decide if the law imposes a duty of care, courts weigh "'considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent.'" *Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Wash.*, 145 Wn.2d 233, 243, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted). "'Duty' is not sacrosanct in itself but is only an expression of the sum total of those considerations of policy which lead the law to say that the plaintiff is entitled to protection." PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS§ 53, at 357-58 (5th ed. 1984), cited in *Volk*, 187 Wn.2d at 263.

In *Barlow*, this Court held that a special relationship exists between a university and its students. The *Barlow* majority anchored the relationship in *Restatement (Second)* § 344, measured by a "student's enrollment and presence on campus or participation in university controlled activities." *Barlow*, 2 Wn.3d at 597-98.

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